

The State of Minnesota's Economy 2019

Economic growth continues to lag

JOHN PHELAN AND MARTHA NJOLOMOLE **John Phelan** is an economist at Center of the American Experiment. He is a graduate of Birkbeck College, University of London, where he earned a BSc in Economics, and of the London School of Economics where he earned an MSc. He worked in finance for ten years before becoming a professional economist. He worked at Capital Economics in London, where he wrote reports ranging from the impact of Brexit on the British economy to the effect of government regulation on cell phone coverage. John has written for *City*



A.M. in London and for *The Wall Street Journal* in both Europe and the U.S. He has also been published in the journal *Economic Affairs*.

Martha Njolomole is an economist at Center of the American Experiment. She is a graduate of Troy University in Alabama, where she earned a Master of Arts in Economics. Her upbringing in Malawi, a developing country, spurred her interest in researching the social and economic advancement of economically disadvantaged people. Martha's recent work includes analyzing the impact of microfinance on entrepreneurship, policy prescriptions for institutional reform in developing nations, and examining the impact of legislative proposals on economic freedom in the United States.



Center of the American Experiment's mission is to build a culture of prosperity for Minnesota and the nation. Our daily pursuit is a free and thriving Minnesota whose cultural and intellectual center of gravity is grounded in free enterprise, limited government, individual freedom, and other time-tested American virtues. As a 501(c)(3) educational organization, contributions to American Experiment are tax deductible.

Bulk orders of this publication are available by contacting Peter Zeller at Peter.Zeller@AmericanExperiment.org or 612-338-3605.

8421 Wayzata Boulevard ★ Suite 110 ★ Golden Valley, MN 55426



FEBRUARY 2020

The State of Minnesota's Economy 2019

Economic growth continues to lag

JOHN PHELAN AND MARTHA NJOLOMOLE

Executive Summary

How is Minnesota performing in terms of economic growth? How is it likely to perform in the future?

The picture that emerges is concerning. We find that Minnesota is a hard working but low productivity economy. Our state lags national averages on output per worker, output per hour worked, and per worker GDP and Personal Income. We are only able to achieve above average levels of GDP or Personal Income per capita because of our above average Labor Force Participation rate. This leaves Minnesotans 6.7 percent—\$4,376—worse off in per capita GDP terms than they would be if their rate of productivity matched the nation as a whole. Demographic trends present a challenge for the state, but Minnesota's current economic policies of regulation and taxation are actually set to hinder any attempt to meet it. To generate a level of income commensurate to the efforts of working Minnesotans, these policies will need to change.

In its key growth drivers, Minnesota faces substantial challenges in coming years.

Minnesota's high taxes are driving productive workers out of the state.

Minnesota faces a challenge with its Labor Force Participation rate forecast to fall to 64.6 percent by 2035. To keep per capita incomes growing, the state will need its remaining workers to become more productive. Sadly, Minnesota's economic policies run in the opposite direction. To improve the productivity of its workforce, Minnesota can try to retain the skilled workers it has and attract new ones. Making this more challenging is the fact that the state's top rate of income tax is higher in all but three other states. It is not just "the rich" who are taxed heavily; Minnesota's lowest tax rate is higher than the highest tax rate in 25 states. As a result, since 2011, the state has lost residents in every income category over \$50,000 annually. Taking income as a proxy for productivity, Minnesota is suffering a net loss of its more productive workers.

Capital investment lags the national average.

Another way to improve labor's productivity is to give workers tools to work with. Here, too, Minnesota lags the national average. In 2018, the average worker in our state had \$100,917 of capital to work with, 5.8 percent below the national figure of \$107,170.

Our state lags the national averages in terms of investment and entrepreneurship.

In 2017, the average American worker had \$581 of venture capital behind him, in Minnesota that figure was just \$185—68.2 percent less. Between 2002 and 2018, Minnesota's inflow of venture capital increased by 74 percent in real terms, compared with a 427 percent increase nationally. In 2014, new and young businesses made up 30 percent of all businesses in our state compared to 34 percent nationally. In 2017, employment in new and young businesses in Minnesota was 8.8 percent of all employment. Nationally, the figure was 11.3 percent. These are the results of Minnesota's high corporate income taxes. We have the fourth highest rate of corporate income tax in the U.S.

On some economic indicators, Minnesota has impressive per capita numbers. However, when we look at per worker numbers the picture is more concerning.

For example, Minnesota's GDP per capita was \$65,640 in 2018, 14th highest in the U.S. and 4.6 percent higher than the national average of \$62,641. By contrast, our GDP per worker was \$123,348 compared to \$131,571 nationally. Our state ranked 20th in the nation on this measure, 6.7 percent below the national average. Figures for Personal Income tell a similar story.

These poor per worker numbers are a reflection of the state's below average labor productivity.

If we look at GDP per worker for the private sector, we see that in 2018 Minnesota's workers produced an average GDP totaling \$119,671—8.1 percent below the national average of \$130,261. On a GDP per hour worked basis, the story is the same. In the goods producing sector, Minnesota's workers produced \$82.45 of GDP, 4.7 percent below the national average of \$86.52. In services, our state's workers produced \$67.63 of GDP per hour worked in 2018, 6.9 percent below the national average of \$72.66.

Minnesota is able to achieve above average per capita outcomes with below average productivity thanks to the sheer hard work of its labor force.

In 2018, Minnesota's Labor Force Participation rate was 69.7 percent, the third highest in the country. As we have a greater share of our labor force working to produce GDP or Personal Income, so we have a greater GDP or Personal Income to divide among the population. Minnesota's above average figures for household incomes reinforce this point. Median household income in Minnesota was \$71,817 in 2018, 18.8 percent above the national average of \$63,179. However, households with two workers accounted for 34.0 percent of households in Minnesota that year compared to just 28.6 percent nationally. Minnesota also had a smaller portion of households with one worker or no workers.

Minnesota needs lower taxes.

Policies from state lawmakers designed to tax Minnesota's residents even more are exactly what our state does not need. Quite the contrary. Our state faces the economic headwind of an aging population. We need to maximize the share of the younger labor force which is working. But we have minimum wage policies blocking young workers from the labor market. We have excessive rates of personal taxation pushing the state's productive workers out and deterring them from coming here from elsewhere. We have high rates of business taxation which deter investment, entrepreneurship, and small business formation.

To boost the productivity of Minnesota's workers so they can generate more output and enjoy the higher standards of living they deserve, these policies need to change. Until then, our economic performance will continue to lag.

Contents

Minnesota's Economic Growth Continues to Lag
Minnesota's Economy in the 21st Century
Per Capita vs Per Worker
Gross Domestic Product Per Capita
Gross Domestic Product Per Worker
Gross Domestic Product Growth
Personal Income Per Capita and Per Worker
How Do We Explain the Difference Between Per Capita and Per Worker Outcomes?
Productivity
Jobs
Labor Force Participation
Household Income
Wages
Personal Income
Minnesota's Economic Prospects
Sources of Per Capita Income Growth
Minnesota's Labor Force Participation Rate
Growth of Capital Per Worker
Total Factor Productivity
Conclusion
Appendix
Endnotes

Minnesota's Economic Growth Continues to Lag

In recent years, it became fashionable to question whethercdeveloped countries need further economic growth. "Society" had all the wealth and income it needed, it just needed to be divided up more "fairly." And, anyway, the planet could not sustain further economic growth.¹

But, as the economist Benjamin M. Friedman argued, material growth had non-material benefits. "Economic growth—meaning a rising standard of living for the clear majority of citizens—more often than not fosters greater opportunity, tolerance of diversity, social mobility, commitment to fairness, and dedication to democracy," he wrote. "[M]any countries with highly developed economies, including America, have experienced alternating eras of economic growth and stagnation in which their democratic values have strengthened or weakened accordingly."² It is not true, as the Marxists argued, that society is driven by its economics. But it seems unarguable that some element of the political turmoil of recent years stems from the financial crisis of 2008-2009 and the sluggishness of the subsequent recovery. In short, even the rich world needs economic growth.

How is Minnesota performing in terms of economic growth? How is it likely to perform in the future?

To answer these questions, we take a close look at data on economic inputs (workers, hours worked, capital per worker) and outputs (Gross Domestic Product, Personal Income) to see how Minnesota has been doing. We then use economic growth theory to analyze that data to see what it can tell us about the future.

Minnesota's Economy in the 21st Century

Per capita vs per worker

On a per capita basis, Minnesota's economy is often above the national average on certain key measures. On a per worker basis, however, we are often below it.

Which matters most depends on the question we are asking. Per capita numbers are a general measure of welfare, telling us how much per person is available to be consumed, invested, or put to some other use. Alternatively, per worker numbers reveal more about economic productivity. In this sense, per capita numbers can be thought of as a welfare measure, while per worker numbers are a productivity measure.³ Ultimately, though, the economic welfare of a country or state depends on its productivity. A strong per worker productivity performance is necessary to underlie a strong per capita welfare performance.

Gross Domestic Product per capita

Gross Domestic Product (GDP), also referred to as Gross State Product (GSP), is the most commonly used measure of economic performance. It measures the total market value of goods and services produced within an economy in a given period.

GDP per capita is a commonly used measure of welfare. This simply divides the amount of GDP by the population to get a clearer idea of living standards. Per capita GDP is a useful "summary statistic" of the level of economic development in the sense that it is highly correlated with other measures of quality of life.⁴

Figure 1 shows Minnesota's per capita GDP compared to the other 49 states and the District of Columbia and also the national average in 2018. Minnesota ranks 14th, with a per capita GDP of \$65,640 and performs better than the nation as a whole. The average GDP per capita for the U.S. as a whole was \$62,641, 4.6 percent lower.



Figure 1: Gross Domestic Product per Capita, 2018 (Current Dollars)

Source: Bureau of Economic Analysis



Figure 2: Gross Domestic Product per Worker, 2018 (Current Dollars)

Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics and Bureau of Economic Analysis

Gross Domestic Product per worker

Figure 2 shows Minnesota's per worker GDP compared to the other 49 states and the District of Columbia and also the national average. On this measure, our state performs worse than the nation as a whole. The average Minnesotan worker produced \$123,348 of GDP in 2018, ranking 20th, compared to \$131,571 for the average U.S. worker, 6.7 percent higher.

Gross Domestic Product growth

While Minnesota's level of GDP per capita compares favorably with the national average, that has not been the case in recent years for its growth rate of GDP.



Figure 3: Gross Domestic Product Growth in the U.S. and Minnesota, 2000-2018 (2000=100)

Source: Bureau of Economic Analysis

We look back to 2000. This gives us a good span of time to look at longer term trends and changes in Minnesota's economy. It also means that our data covers two periods of economic downturn and recovery, as dated by the National Bureau of Economic Research.⁵

As shown in Figure 3, Minnesota's GDP growth more or less matched that of the United States generally between 2000 and 2005. After that, they diverged. Minnesota's output remained more or less flat from about 2005 to 2008. Then the recession struck, which impacted our state slightly more than the nation as a whole. Since then, Minnesota's growth has matched the national average. It has not regained any of the relative ground it lost in the mid-2000s. Overall, in 2018, the United States' economy was 41.7 percent larger in real terms than it was in 2000 while Minnesota's economy was 34.7 percent larger. If Minnesota's economic growth rate had matched that of the nation since 2000, the state's GDP would have been 5.2 percent higher in 2018 than it actually was.



Figure 4: Real Gross Domestic Product Growth by Metropolitan Statistical Area, 2001-2018

Source: Bureau of Economic Analysis



Figure 5: Real Gross Domestic Product Growth in Metropolitan Statistical Areas, 2001-2018

Source: Bureau of Economic Analysis

It is a similar story when we look at Minnesota's Metropolitan Statistical Areas (MSAs).⁶ Between 2001 and 2018, GDP grew in the metropolitan portion of the U.S. by 38.8 percent. As Figure 4 shows, of Minnesota's five MSAs, two beat this growth rate—Mankato (62.3 percent) and Rochester (49.6 percent)—but the other three underperformed—Minneapolis-St. Paul (34.9 percent), St. Cloud (31.8 percent), and Duluth (27.9 percent).

The state's economic hub, the Minneapolis-St. Paul MSA, has fared badly compared with its competitors elsewhere in the country. In 2001, the Minneapolis-St. Paul MSA was the 14th largest in the U.S. by GDP, by 2018, it was 15th. As Figure 5 shows however, for the next six larger and next six smaller MSAs in 2001, the average growth rate from 2001 to 2018 was 57.7 percent, compared to just 34.9 percent for Minneapolis-St. Paul. Of its 2001 peer group, the Twin Cities only outperformed St. Louis and Detroit.

Isn't this just convergence?

It is sometimes argued that Minnesota's below average GDP growth is the result of an already high level of GDP.⁷ The economic theory of convergence holds that, all else being equal, poorer economies' per capita incomes will tend to grow at faster rates than those in richer economies; they will catch up, in other words.

The evidence once supported this theory. During much of the 20th century, poorer states and regions in America caught up with richer ones at a rate of about 2 percent per year, a figure sometimes called the "iron law of convergence."⁸ In 1930, for example, workers in Mississippi earned just 20 percent of the wages of workers in New York. By 1980, the proportion had increased to 65 percent. In 1991, the economist Olivier Blanchard wrote, "The convergence of income across regions in the United States is a robust fact." And, back then, it was.

More recent research casts doubt on this. While incomes across states converged at a rate of 1.8 percent per year from 1880 to 1980, there has been hardly any convergence at all since then. Specifically, "The convergence rate from 1990 to 2010 was less than half the historical norm, and in the period leading up to the Great Recession there was virtually no convergence at all."⁹ In other words, the "convergence," which is supposed to explain Minnesota's slow rate of economic growth relative to the U.S. average, has not been happening over the period covered in our report. Our economic growth is lagging, and "convergence" does not explain it.

Other recent research finds that convergence has declined in cities too. Between 1940 and 1980, poor cities caught up with rich ones at a rate of 1.4 percent a year. Since then, they have lagged behind.¹⁰

Minnesota's Department of Employment and Economic Development divides our state into 13 Economic Development Regions. Looking at these allows us to get an idea of how the economy has been performing statewide. As Figure 6 illustrates, in real terms GDP growth from 2001 to 2018 ranges from 61.37 percent in the Northwest to just 15.19 percent in North Central.

Figure 6: Real Gross Domestic Product Change by Economic Development Region, 2001-2018



Source: Bureau of Economic Analysis

Personal Income per capita and per worker

We see the same pattern when we look at data on Personal Income.¹¹

As Figure 7 shows, in 2018 per capita Personal Income in Minnesota stood at \$57,515, ranking 14th nationally and 5.6 percent above the national average of \$54,446. In per worker terms, however, as Figure 8 shows, in 2018 Minnesota's Personal Income of \$108,080 was 5.5 percent below the national figure of \$114,358.



Figure 7: Personal Income per Capita, 2018 (2018 Dollars)

Source: Bureau of Economic Analysis



Figure 8: Personal Income per Worker, 2018 (2018 Dollars)

Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics and Bureau of Economic Analysis

How do we explain the difference between per capita and per worker outcomes?

On the face of it, this difference in results between per capita and per worker outcomes would seem to be a puzzle. In fact, the answer is quite simple.

Per capita figures divide GDP or Personal Income by the entire population.¹² Per worker figures divide it by the total employed. There are two important factors that go into these equations. The first is the productivity of the labor force. This determines how much GDP or Personal Income each worker will generate. The second is the employment ratio. This tells you how many workers as a share of the population are producing GDP or Personal Income.

Productivity

Productivity is the ability to produce outputs from a given amount of inputs, such as labor or capital.¹³ The ability to produce more outputs from a given amount of inputs is the essence of economic growth. Indeed, as the economist Paul Krugman has written, "Productivity isn't everything, but in the long run it is almost everything. A country's ability to improve its standard of living over time depends almost entirely on its ability to raise its output per worker."¹⁴

Per worker

One common measure of an economy's productivity is its labor productivity. One way to measure this is the average amount of GDP produced per worker.¹⁵ As Figure 9 shows, Minnesota's per worker productivity in the private sector has consistently been below the national average since at least 2000. In 2018, Minnesota's workers each produced \$119,671 of GDP (in 2012 dollars). This was 8.1 percent below the national average of \$130,261.

Per hour worked

A measure of GDP per worker, while useful, can be skewed by part-time workers, who count the same as fulltime workers but work fewer hours and produce less. It can also obscure the variation between sectors of the economy.

To take this into account, Figure 10 shows GDP per hour worked in Minnesota's goods producing sector.¹⁶ The workers in this part of the state's economy are less productive than the U.S. average, producing \$82.45 of GDP per hour worked in 2018. This was 4.7 percent less than the national average of \$86.52. It must be stressed that Minnesota's flat performance here matches that of the U.S. generally.

Figure 11 shows GDP per hour worked for the service sector. Here, too, Minnesota is below the national average. In 2018, each Minnesota worker in the service sector produced \$67.63 of GDP per hour worked. This was 6.9 percent below the national figure of \$72.66.

Jobs

One of the major factors in Minnesota's poor productivity—and that of the U.S. generally in recent years—is the large share of new jobs which are being generated in low productivity sectors of the economy.



Figure 9: Private Sector Productivity, 2000-2017 (Real GDP per Employee, 2012 Dollars)

Source: Bureau of Economic Analysis and Bureau of Labor Statistics



Figure 10: Goods Producing Productivity, 2007-2018 (Real GDP per Hour Worked, 2012 Dollars)

Source: Bureau of Economic Analysis and Bureau of Labor Statistics



Figure 11: Service Producing Productivity, 2007-2018 (Real GDP per Hour Worked, 2012 Dollars)

Source: Bureau of Economic Analysis and Bureau of Labor Statistics



Figure 12: Total Employment Growth in the U.S. and Minnesota, 2000-2018 (2000=100)

Source: Bureau of Economic Analysis

As Figure 12 shows, Minnesota's job growth has lagged that of the nation as a whole since 2000. Since the turn of the century, employment across the U.S. has grown by 21.4 percent but by just 14.0 percent in Minnesota. This ranks our state 32nd out of the 50 states and District of Columbia over the period.

But there are further concerns when we look at the types of jobs that are being created here. Figure 13 shows the GDP associated with the average job in various occupational categories, as well as the percentage increase or decrease in those jobs since 2000. In some occupations with a high GDP per job, such as mining and logging, information, and manufacturing, the number of jobs has stagnated or even fallen. Mining & Logging, for example, generated \$460,839 of GDP per job in 2018 and Information \$247,280. But, since 2000, Minnesota lost 17.9 percent of its jobs in Mining & Logging and 28.8 percent of those in Information. In contrast, the fastest growing occupations, Health Care and Educational Services, have a relatively low GDP per job. Health Care jobs, for example, generate an average of \$75,094 of GDP annually, but jobs there have increased by 68.6 percent since 2000. Educational Services jobs generate an average of \$56,894 of GDP annually, and employment in that sector has risen by 59.5 percent over the same period. For as long as this continues to be the case, net job growth may not imply rising per capita GDP.



Figure 13: Minnesota Gross Domestic Product per Job, 2018, and Job Growth by Sector, 2000-2018

Source: Bureau of Economic Analysis and Bureau of Labor Statistics



Figure 14: Labor Force Participation Rate, 2018

Source: Bureau of Economic Analysis

Labor Force Participation

The Labor Force Participation rate is the share of a population which is in the labor force.

GDP and Personal Income are generated by the share of the population which is working. So, even if that population has, on average, relatively low per worker labor productivity, as Minnesota does, it might still produce above average levels of GDP per capita if a relatively large share of it is working. In other words, higher than average labor force participation might offset low per worker productivity to allow higher than average levels of GDP per capita.

As Figure 14 shows, that is certainly the case in Minnesota. With an average participation rate of 69.7 percent in 2018, Minnesota ranked third nationally. This is good in one sense; all else being equal it is better to have a higher share of your population working. But, to increase GDP and Personal Income per capita, they need to be working productively. And, as we saw in Figures 9, 10, and 11, they are not, at least compared to the U.S. average. Minnesotans are making up for their low labor productivity with more workers. But, to increase per capita incomes, we need to see increased output per worker, not simply an increased number of workers.

Another point to note is that all four of Minnesota's neighbors were in the top 10. Considering the similarity in outcome despite the broad range of economic policies found across these states, this suggests that there is some other driver at work besides state policy.

Household Income

Another way to look at this is to examine household incomes. As Figure 15 shows, median household income in Minnesota was \$71,817 in 2018, 18.8 percent above the national median of \$63,179. In 2000, the median household income in Minnesota was 129.2 percent that of the United States. In 2018, that was down to 113.7 percent.

But this is partly down to the fact that each household has, on average, more people in it who are working. As Figure 16 shows, households with two workers accounted for 34.0 percent of Minnesota households in 2017, but only 28.6 percent of households nationally. Minnesota also had a smaller portion of households with one worker or no workers. Once again, one of the headline statistics of Minnesota's economic success turns out to be based on the hard work of the state's population, rather than a particularly strong economy.





Source: Census Bureau



Figure 16: Proportion of Households by Number of Workers, 2017

Source: Census Bureau



Figure 17: Average Annual Wage for the U.S. and Minnesota, 2000-2018 (2018 Dollars)

Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics





Source: Bureau of Economic Analysis

Wages

Minnesota has performed slightly above the U.S. average on wages generally since 2000. As Figure 17 shows, in 2018 the average annual wage in Minnesota was \$58,007 compared to \$57,266 nationally.

Personal Income

Wages are just one part of total remuneration. In recent decades, they have fallen as a share of total worker compensation. In 1973, non-wage benefits accounted for 13 percent of employee compensation. By 2012 that figure had risen by half, with 20 percent of employee earnings now coming in benefits.¹⁷

Personal Income data can capture some of this. It contains income from three categories: labor income, capital income, and transfer income. Minnesota's Personal Income per capita leads the national average, but the per worker figures lag that same average.

The Personal Income data contain further causes for concern. As Figure 18 shows, Minnesota has experienced much stronger growth in transfer income—e.g., Social Security, Medicaid, Medicare, welfare, and other government program distributions—than in other categories, compared to the nation as a whole. While real per capita income from transfers increased by 61.6 percent nationally, in Minnesota that increase was 78.9 percent. In the other two categories of income, our increase lagged the U.S. average from 2000 to 2018.

Minnesota's Economic Prospects

What might the future hold for Minnesota's economy?

To repeat, what matters for Minnesotans is per capita or per person economic growth. The growth rate of the economy must outstrip the growth rate of the population. If the number of Minnesotans increases by 50 percent and state GDP also increases by 50 percent, then the average person is no better off. With this in mind, here we identify the sources of per capita income growth and look at indicators and prospects for Minnesota.

Sources of per capita income growth

Theories of economic growth

There are three sources of per capita GDP growth: an increase in the workforce; a rise in capital per worker; and higher Total Factor Productivity (TFP). The first two relate to the accumulation of factors of production and the third to the quality of those factors and the skill with which they are utilized.

Older economic growth theories held that there were constant returns to scale. This means that any increase of labor or capital would increase output proportionally.¹⁸ Subsequent theories held that there were, beyond a point, diminishing returns. In this case, the addition of an extra unit of labor or capital would increase output, but by less than the addition of the previous unit. According to this theory, increases in longrun economic growth came from improvements in technology which made labor more productive. These improvements were driven by factors, such as innovation, which were determined outside the model.¹⁹

Still more modern are theories of increasing returns to scale. This theory states that an additional unit of input can actually increase output by more than the previous unit. This is because improved knowledge and entre-

preneurship can improve productivity. As a result, they are key for economic growth in the long run. Economists who support this theory argue that policymakers can have some influence on this and on technological improvements through education and research and development spending. With these factors being determined inside the model, they are known as endogenous growth theories.²⁰ The two key factors, technological change and productivity, are what make up Total Factor Productivity. Theory and evidence have shown that this is the main driver of long-run growth.²¹

Minnesota's Labor Force Participation rate

The Labor Force Participation rate is the percentage of the population that is either employed or unemployed and actively seeking work. GDP per capita is simply total GDP divided by the number of people in the state. If more of those people are working to produce GDP, then there is more of it to divide among them. As a result, a higher Labor Force Participation rate can drive greater per capita GDP.²²

The outlook here is not good, as Figure 19 shows. The Minnesota State Demographic Center projects that the Labor Force Participation rate will fall to 64.6 percent in 2035, lower than at any time since at least 1976.²³ For the next two decades, this will be a negative value in our per capita GDP growth equation.

The Minnesota State Demographic Center predicts this decline will be driven by the retirement of Baby Boomers, those born between 1946 and 1964. But there are other concerning signs when we look at the recent record on labor force participation. Between 2000 and 2018, Minnesota's overall Labor Force Participation rate fell by 3.9 percentage points, from 75.1 percent to 71.2 percent. But, as Figure 20 shows, younger workers as well as older workers were leaving—or failing to enter—the workforce. Indeed, for workers between the ages of 16 and 19, labor force participation has slumped by 19.1 percentage points since 2000. By contrast, in the two oldest categories, labor force participation has actually increased, by 9.6 and 4.4 percentage points, respectively.

Why are younger Minnesotans less likely to be in the labor force? One answer is minimum wage legislation. Minnesota is one of 26 states and the District of Columbia to have a state minimum wage above the federal level of \$7.25 per hour. For employers with an annual sales volume of \$500,000 or more, the minimum wage in Minnesota is currently \$9.50. Most empirical studies have found negative effects of minimum wages on youth employment.²⁴ Other research pinpoints further causes of declining labor force participation, including increased expanded trade particularly with China, adoption of industrial robots, increased recourse to disability benefits, increased rates of incarceration, and a rise in occupational licensing.²⁵

The prospects for labor force productivity

One way to maintain growth rates of per capita GDP in the face of a stagnant or falling labor force is to increase the productivity of that labor force. If each worker produces a greater amount of GDP, then GDP per capita can continue to increase even in the face of a shrinking labor force.

There is scope for Minnesota to improve here. In the next two sections, we look at ways productivity might be improved with increased capital per worker and improved TFP. But Minnesota could also improve its productivity prospects by attracting high productivity workers to the state or holding onto those it already has.

Sadly, Minnesota has performed poorly on this front. Using income as a proxy for productivity, Figure 21



Figure 19: Minnesota's Labor Force Participation Rate, 1976-2050

Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics and Minnesota State Demographic Center

shows that Minnesota attracts lower-income residents and loses higher-income ones. Furthermore, these losses are not limited to the so-called "rich" who might be fleeing the state's high top rate of tax. Between 2011 and 2018, Minnesota saw a net outflow of people above a threshold of \$50,000 in income annually.

There is evidence that high personal tax rates are a factor driving these population flows.²⁶ And Minnesota's taxes are some of the highest in the U.S. It is one of the 43 states to have its own income tax, but, as Figure 22 shows, the top rate—9.85 percent on taxable incomes over \$163,890—is higher than anywhere else apart from California, Hawaii, New Jersey, and Oregon. Equally significant, perhaps, is the fact that Minnesota's lowest income tax rate of 5.35 percent is higher than the highest tax bracket in 25 states.

A common misconception is that this out-migration is primarily accounted for by "snow birds," older Minnesotans leaving the state for friendlier climates. This is not the case. As Figure 23 shows, between 2011 and 2018 Minnesota lost residents in every age group over age 35. People aged 45 to 54—people in the prime of their working lives—made up a substantial share of the loss.

Growth of Capital Per Worker

Capital per worker refers to the amount of capital each worker has to work with. Increasing capital per worker makes workers more productive, until the point where diminishing returns set in. By enabling workers to produce more, it raises wages and GDP per capita.



Figure 20: Percentage Point Change in Labor Force Participation in Minnesota, 2000-2018

Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics



Figure 21: Net Flow of Taxpayers and Dependents to Minnesota by Income of Primary Taxpayer, 2011-2018

Source: Internal Revenue Service



Figure 22: Top Rates of State Personal Income Tax and Minnesota's Top and Lowest Rate, 2019

Source: The Tax Foundation



Figure 23: Net Flow of Taxpayers and Dependents to Minnesota by Age of Primary Taxpayer, 2011-2018

Source: Internal Revenue Service



Figure 24: Capital per Worker in the U.S. and Minnesota, 2000-2017 (2009 Dollars)

Source: Bureau of Economic Analysis

Minnesota performs relatively poorly here. The state's levels of capital per worker have been below the national average since at least 2000, as Figure 24 shows. In 2017, the average Minnesota worker had \$100,917 of capital to work with, 5.8 percent below the national figure of \$107,170.²⁸ Although the gap narrowed a little from the mid-2000s, it has widened again since 2014.

Growth in the capital available to Minnesota's workers is driven by the amount of investment capital to which business owners have access. This will move with the expected after-tax rate of return on investment, which is a measure of the flow of income generated by an investment in the stock of capital. It is primarily affected by tax rates.²⁹ Evidence indicates that corporate income taxes have a large negative effect on aggregate investment and entrepreneurial activity.³⁰ They are also a major influence on foreign investment decisions.³¹ Evidence shows that high rates of corporate tax reduce entrepreneurship³² and significantly influence firm and house-hold location.³³

Minnesota's taxes are not conducive to capital investment. The Tax Foundation ranks Minnesota 43rd out of the 50 states for its business tax climate.³⁴ Minnesota's top rate of Corporate Income Tax is 9.80 percent. As Figure 25 shows, this is the fourth highest in the U.S. Only Iowa (12 percent), New Jersey (11.50 percent), and Pennsylvania (9.99 percent) have higher rates.

The impacts of these tax rates can be seen in other data. Minnesota has a poor recent record of attracting venture capital, as shown in Figure 26. In 2018, the average American worker had \$581 of venture capital behind him or her. In Minnesota, the figure was just \$185—68.2 percent less. Over the period 2002 to 2018, Minnesota's inflow of venture capital increased by 74 percent in real terms, compared with a 427 percent increase for the nation as a whole.

Research has found that tax rates have a mixed to negative effect on entrepreneurial activity.³⁵ Corporate income tax rates are associated with lower levels of entrepreneurship,³⁶ and may also uniquely harm entrants over incumbent firms.³⁷

Total Factor Productivity

The third source of per capita GDP growth is an increase in Total Factor Productivity. This is a measure of technological improvement and productivity.

Is immigration the answer?

One policy often suggested as a remedy for the state's shrinking workforce is increased immigration. But this relies on two assumptions.²⁷

The first is that the new arrivals will have a Labor Force Participation rate at least as high as that of the population already here. If they do not, they actually will lower the Labor Force Participation rate, exacerbating the very problem they are proposed to solve. There is good news here. According to U.S. Census Bureau data, the Labor Force Participation rate among Minnesota's foreign-born population was 72.7 percent in 2016, above that for native-born Minnesotans.

The second assumption depends on the new arrivals being at least as productive as the workers already here. Considering GDP per capita, immigrant workers add to the denominator (population) as well as the numerator (GDP). If these workers increase the population by a greater percentage than they increase GDP, they will lower GDP per head.

What matters is the skill level of the workers. Here the picture is less positive. There are 32.6 percent of immigrants aged 25 or older who have bachelor's degrees or higher, a figure similar to native-born Minnesotans' 35 percent. However, whereas 34 percent of native-born Minnesotans have attended some college or earned an associate's degree, that figure is just 21.6 percent for foreign-born Minnesotans and falls to 15.5 percent for foreign-born non-citizens. While 30.8 percent of native-born Minnesotans have a high school diploma or less and just 4.9 percent are not high school graduates, for foreign-born Minnesotans these numbers are 45.8 percent and 27.1 percent, respectively. For foreign-born residents who are not citizens these figures rise to 52.7 percent and 34.4 percent.

This is reflected in the jobs Minnesota's immigrants do. Foreign-born workers are found more often in service occupations, which include health care support, protective service, food preparation and serving, building and grounds cleaning, and personal care occupations. These are lower-productivity jobs that generate relatively low levels of GDP.

Reflecting on these gaps in education and skills, it is clear that many immigrants will need access to education to be prepared for the workforce. But this will come at a cost to Minnesota taxpayers. From an economic-growth perspective, would it not be better to focus on attracting educated, highly skilled immigrants who do not need to be trained at taxpayer expense?

Immigrants can play a part in boosting Minnesota's economic growth in years to come. But "immigrants" is a broad term covering everyone from tech company CEOs to refugees, and it is analytically unhelpful to lump them all together. Where economic growth is concerned, our state needs to attract those with more skills.



Figure 25: Top Rates of Corporate Income Tax, 2019

Source: The Tax Foundation



Figure 26: Venture Capital per Worker, 2002-2018 (2018 Dollars)

Source: PwC/NVAC Money Tree Report, Bureau of Economic Analysis

Research and development spending in Minnesota

The first of these factors, technological improvement, simply refers to the improvement in the quality of capital, rather than its quantity (which was previously discussed). A farm's workers, for example, might initially become more productive if they were given more tractors. But, if they had more than one tractor each or too many to operate usefully on the farm's land, then any further increase in the number of tractors would bring diminishing returns. By contrast, the adoption of new technology, such as enhancement of seed planting efficiency, will raise productivity by raising the quality of technology.

The quality of physical capital can be improved by Research and Development (R&D). Research also finds that R&D increased employee departures to new start-ups that are venture capital backed, high tech, high wage, and in different sectors than the parent firm.³⁸

Figure 27 shows the R&D intensity for Minnesota and the national average. This is the ratio of total R&D performed in a state to its state GDP. The state currently lags the national average on this measure of R&D spending. Between 2003 and 2011, as a share of GDP, Minnesota devoted more resources to R&D than the national average. But since 2012, our state has lagged the nation. In 2016, the figure for the U.S. was 2.75 percent, in Minnesota it was 2.47 percent. Once again, research has shown that high tax rates, such as Minnesota's, reduce innovation.³⁹



Figure 27: Research and Development Intensity, 2000-2016

Source: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development and the National Science Foundation

Entrepreneurship in Minnesota

The second of these factors refers to the skill with which inputs such as land, labor, and capital are combined. It might be termed entrepreneurship. An example here would be Henry Ford's pioneering of the production line technique, which enabled his workforce to produce a vastly greater quantity of motor cars.

Minnesota has a relatively poor record on new business creation. These businesses are of vital economic importance. Evidence shows they contribute disproportionately to both gross and net job creation,⁴⁰ play a major role in business cycles,⁴¹ and account for an outsized share of the innovation and aggregate productivity growth that raises living standards.⁴²

Figure 28 shows the share of new and young businesses (those aged 0 through 5 years) for Minnesota and the U.S. In 2000, new and young businesses as a share of all businesses were 41 percent in Minnesota and 43 percent nationally. By 2014, the most recent year for which we have data, that number had fallen nationally to 34 percent but in Minnesota to 30 percent.

To bring the analysis further up to date, we can look at employment in new and young businesses. Figure 29 shows the share of employment in new and young businesses. Since 2000, Minnesota has consistently lagged the U.S. average, but both have fallen. For Minnesota, the fall has been 4.5 percentage points from 13.3 percent in 2000 to 8.8 percent in 2017. For the U.S., the fall has been 4.8 percentage points, from 16.1 percent to 11.3 percent.



Figure 28: New and Young Businesses as a Share of All Businesses, 2000-2014

Source: Census Bureau



Figure 29: Employment in New and Young Businesses as a share of Employment in All Businesses, 2000-2017

Source: Census Bureau

Education in Minnesota

Research shows that states with better educational attainment, as well as greater investment in research and development, see faster growth in TFP.⁴³ We can think of the workforce in the same way we think of our capital stock. Increasing the investment in our stock of human capital through education can yield rewards just like investments in physical capital.⁴⁴ Of course, as with investment in physical capital, investment in human capital can be wasted or hit diminishing returns. Research shows that in Minnesota, between 1970 and 2011, SAT scores adjusted for participation and demographics showed no noticeable increase while, over the same period, inflation adjusted per pupil spending increased by 80 percent.⁴⁵

Minnesota's education system frequently features toward the top of state rankings. We rank 7th with *U.S. News & World Report* and 4th on National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) scores. But research suggests that this might be more to do with the make-up of the student body than anything else. Students from different socioeconomic and ethnic backgrounds tend to perform differently on NAEP tests regardless of the state they are in but the popular state rankings usually ignore this. Because of this, comparing aggregated NAEP scores "often renders conventional state rankings as little more than a proxy for a jurisdiction's demography." A state, like Minnesota, that does well on such aggregated scores might be benefiting from its socioeconomic make up rather than any great achievement by its education system. When we disaggregate the data to take these factors into account, Minnesota slumps to 33rd nationally.⁴⁶

Conclusion

In 1973, *Time* magazine famously labeled Minnesota "The State that Works." This is still true. As shown by statistics on labor force participation and workers per household, Minnesotans are a hard working bunch of people.

And it is this work ethic, not state government policy, which is the key to their apparent prosperity as seen in figures for GDP or Personal Income per capita. Through sheer effort, Minnesotans have managed to elevate their per capita levels of GDP and Personal Income above national averages while their per worker levels have been below national averages.

This shortfall in Minnesota's productivity has real implications for the state. Remedying it could have great benefits. If Minnesota's workers were as productive as the national average, our state's GDP would have been 6.7 percent larger in 2018 than it was. GDP per capita would be \$4,376 or 6.7 percent higher.

But we do not have the policies in place to do that. Quite the contrary.

Our state faces the economic headwind of an aging population. We need to maximize the share of the younger labor force which is working, but we have minimum wage policies blocking young workers from the labor market. We have excessive rates of personal taxation pushing the state's productive workers out and deterring them from coming here from elsewhere. We have high rates of business taxation which deter investment, entrepreneurship, and small business formation.

To boost the productivity of Minnesota's workers so they can generate more output and enjoy the higher standards of living they deserve, these policies need to change. Until then, our economic performance will remain unimpressive.

Appendix

It may seem a little counter-intuitive that a state can have below average productivity and above average GDP per capita. The numeric example shown below illustrates how this is possible.

	State A	State B
GDP	100	110
Labor Force	50	75
Population	100	100
GDP per Capita	1	1.1
GDP per Worker	2	1.5

State A has a low Labor Force Participation rate (50 percent) but higher productivity (2 units of GDP per worker). State B (corresponding to Minnesota) has a higher Labor Force Participation rate (75 percent) but lower productivity (1.5 units of GDP per worker). As a result, State B has a higher level of GDP and GDP per capita, but a lower level of GDP per worker. ■

Endnotes

1 Diane Coyle, *The Economics of Enough* (MIT Press, Cambridge), 2011.

2 Benjamin M. Friedman, *The Moral Consequences of Economic Growth* (Vintage, New York), 2005, pp. 4-5.

3 Charles I. Jones & Dietrich Vollrath, *Introduction to Economic Growth* (Norton, New York), 2013. p. 6.

4 Jones & Vollrath, *Introduction to Economic Growth* (Norton, New York), 2013. p. 5.

5 U.S. Business Cycle Expansions and Contractions, available at <u>http://www.nber.org/cycles.html</u> (accessed September 24, 2018).

6 A metropolitan statistical area (MSA) is a geographical region with a relatively high population density at its core and close economic ties throughout the area.

7 Louis D. Johnston, "That Center of the American Experiment Report on the Minnesota Economy? It's Politics, not Economics," *MinnPost*, August 23, 2016.

8 Robert Barro and Xavier Sala I Martin, "Economic Growth and Convergence Across the United States," National Bureau of Economic Research working paper, No. 3419, 1990.

9 Peter Ganong and Daniel Shoag, "Why Has Regional Income Convergence in the U.S. Declined?" National Bureau of Economic Research working paper, No. 23609, 2017.

10 Elisa Giannone, "Skilled-Biased Technical Change and Regional Convergence," Research working paper, 2017.

11 The Bureau of Economic Analysis defines Personal Income as "Income that people get from wages and salaries, Social Security and other government benefits, dividends and interest, business ownership, and other sources."

12 In math terms, GDP or Personal Income is the numerator and population or labor force is the denominator. (See Appendix)

13 Considering the importance of productivity, it is surprising how little data exists at the state level. While the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) measures national productivity, its data sources do not provide the information necessary to construct state productivity measures.

14 Paul Krugman, *The Age of Diminishing Expectations* (MIT Press, Cambridge), 1994, p. 9.

15 David C. Colander, *Economics* (McGraw Hill Irwin, Boston), 2008, p. 396; Stephen D. Williamson, *Macroeconomics* (Pearson, Harlow), 2008, p. 16; Frederic S. Mishkin, *Macroeconomics: Policy and Practice* (Pearson, Harlow), 2012, p. 49; Charles I. Jones and Dietrich Vollrath, *Introduction to Economic Growth* (Norton, New York), 2013, p. 6.

16 Olivier Blanchard, *Macroeconomics* (Pearson, Harlow), 2009, p. 28.

17 These are The Heritage Foundation calculations using data (compiled by Haver Analytics) from regular BEA news releases on the GDP, Table 9 in each release, 1973–2012, <u>http://www.bea.gov/</u><u>newsreleases/national/gdp/gdpnewsrelease.htm</u> (accessed July 2, 2018).

18 Roy F. Harrod, "An Essay in Dynamic Theory," *The Economic Journal*, Vol. 49, No. 193, 1939, pp. 14-33 and Evsey Domar, "Capital Expansion, Rate of Growth, and Employment," *Econometrica*, Vol. 14, No. 2, 1946, pp. 137-147.

19 Robert M. Solow, "A Contribution to the Theory of Economic Growth," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, Vol. 70, No. 1, 1956, pp. 65-94.

20 Paul Romer, "The Origins of Endogenous Growth," *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, Vol. 8, No. 1, 1994, pp. 3-22 and David Warsh, *Knowledge and the Wealth of Nations: A Story of Economic Discovery* (W.W. Norton & Company, New York), 2006.

21 YiLi Chien, "What Drives Long-Run Economic Growth?" available at https://www.stlouisfed.org/on-the-economy/2015/ june/what-drives-long-run-economic-growth (accessed August 3, 2018).

22 David Weil, *Economic Growth* (Prentice Hall, New Jersey), 2004, pp. 141-146.

23 Minnesota State Demographic Center, "In the Shadow of the Boomers: Minnesota's Labor Force Outlook," Minnesota State Demographic Center, St. Paul, 2013.

24 David Neumark, J. M. Ian Salas, and William Wascher, "Revisiting the Minimum Wage-Employment Debate: Throwing Out the Baby with the Bathwater?" National Bureau of Economic Research working paper, No. 13756, 2014; David Neumark and William Wascher, "Employment Effects of Minimum and Subminimum Wages: Panel Data on State Minimum Wage Laws," Industrial and Labor Relations Review, Vol. 46, No. 1, 1992, pp. 55-81; Nicolas Williams, "Regional Effects of the Minimum Wage on Teenage Employment," Applied Economics, Vol. 25, No. 12, 1993, pp. 1517-1528; Mark D. Partridge and Jamie S. Partridge, "Are Teen Unemployment Rates Influenced by State Minimum Wage Laws?" Growth and Change, Vol. 29, No. 4, 1998, pp. 359–382; David Neumark and Cortnie Shupe, "Declining Teen Employment: Minimum Wages, Other Explanations, and Implications for Human Capital Investment," Mercatus working paper, 2018; Noah Williams, "Evidence on the Effects of Minnesota's Minimum Wage Increases," CROWE Policy Brief, 2018.

25 Katharine Abraham and Melissa Kearney list expanded trade with China and adoption of industrial robots as major contributing factors to the decline in Employment-to-Population Ratio from 1999-2016 and increased receipt of disability benefits (SSDI, VADC), higher minimum wages, and increased rate of incarceration as significant contributing factors. See Katharine Abraham and Melissa Kearney, "Explaining the Decline in the U.S. Employment-to-Population Ratio: A Review of the Evidence," National Bureau of Economic Research working paper, No. 24333, 2018. Scott Winship also identifies an increase in disability programs as a cause of the decline in the male participation rate. See Scott Winship, "What's Behind Declining Male Labor Force Participation: Fewer Good Jobs or Fewer Men Seeking Them?" Mercatus working paper, 2017. See also John Phelan, "Minnesota's Workforce to 2050," Center of the American Experiment, Minneapolis, 2018.

26 Peter J. Nelson, "Minnesotans on the Move to Lower Tax States 2016," Center of the American Experiment, Minneapolis, 2016, and Peter J. Nelson, "Do Minnesotans Move to Escape the Estate Tax?" Center of the American Experiment, Minneapolis, 2016. For more general evidence on the impact of taxes on interstate migration see Roger Cohen, Andrew Lai, and Charles Steindel, "State Income Taxes and Interstate Migration," Business Economics, Vol. 49, Issue 3, July 2014, pp. 176-190; Enrico Moretti and Daniel Wilson, "The Effect of State Taxes on the Geographical Location of Top Earners: Evidence from Star Scientists," Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco working paper, No. 215-06, March 2017; Enrico Moretti and Daniel J. Wilson, "Taxing Billionaires: Estate Taxes and the Geographical Location of the Ultra-Wealthy," National Bureau of Economic Research working paper, No. 26387, 2019; Henrik Kleven, Camille Landais, Mathilde Muñoz, and Stefanie Stantcheva, "Taxation and Migration: Evidence and Policy Implications," National Bureau of Economic Research working paper, No. 25740, 2019; Joshua Rauh and Ryan J. Shyu, "Behavioral Responses to State Income Taxation of High Earners: Evidence from California," National Bureau of Economic Research working paper, No. 26349, 2019.

27 Steve Hine and Cameron Macht, "Immigrants and the Economy," Minnesota Economic Trends, December 2017, pp. 2-7.

28 Makram El-Shagi and Steven Yamarik, "State-Level Capital and Investment: Refinements and Update," Research working paper, 2018.

29 Along with the growth rate of TFP, see Congressional Budget Office, "The 2017 Long-Term Budget Outlook," Congressional Budget Office, Washington, D.C., March 2017.

30 Simeon Djankov, Tim Ganser, Caralee McLiesh, Rita Ramalho, Andrei Shleifer, "The Effect of Corporate Taxes on Investment and Entrepreneurship," National Bureau of Economic Research working paper, No. 13756, 2008.

31 James R. Hines Jr., "Altered States: Taxes and the Location of Foreign Direct Investment in America," National Bureau of Economic Research working paper, No. 4397, 1993.

32 E. Mark Curtis and Ryan A. Decker, "Entrepreneurship and State Taxation," Federal Reserve working paper, No. 2018-003, 2018. 33 Dan S. Rickman and Yihua Yu, "U.S. State and Local Fiscal Policies and Non metropolitan Area Economic Performance: A Spatial Equilibrium Analysis," *Papers in Regional Science*, Vol. 92, No. 3, 2013, pp. 579-597.

34 The Tax Foundation Facts and Figures, 2019.

35 Mina Baliamoune-Lutz and Pierre Garello, "Tax Structure and Entrepreneurship," *Small Business Economics*, Vol. 42, No. 1, 2011, pp. 165-190.

36 Abhiroop Mukherjee, Manpreet Singh, and Alminas Žaldokas, "Do Corporate Taxes Hinder Innovation?" *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 124, No. 1, April 2017, pp. 195-221; Marco Da Rin, Marina Di Giacomo, and Alessandro Sembenelli, "Entrepreneurship, Firm Entry, and the Taxation of Corporate Income: Evidence from Europe," *Journal of Public Economics*, Vol. 95, No. 9-10, October 2011, pp. 1048-1066.

37 Elie Applebaum and Eliakim Katz, "Corporate Taxation, Incumbency Advantage, and Entry," *European Economic Review*, Vol. 40, No. 9, 1996, pp. 1817-1828.

38 Tania Babina and Sabrina T. Howell, "Entrepreneurial Spillovers from Corporate R&D," National Bureau of Economic Research working paper, No. 25360, 2019.

39 Ufuk Akcigit and Stefanie Stantcheva, "Taxation and Innovation," NBER Reporter 2018 Number 3.

40 John Haltiwanger, Ron S. Jarmin, and Javier Miranda, "Who Creates Jobs? Small versus Large versus Young," *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, Vol. 95, No. 2, 2013, pp. 347-361.

41 Manuel Adelino, Song Ma, and David Robinson, "Firm Age, Investment Opportunities, and Job Creation," *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 72. No. 3, 2017, pp. 999-1038; Benjamin Pugsley and Ays egül Sahin, "Grown-up Business Cycles," *The Review of Financial Studies*, 2018.

42 Eric J. Bartelsman and Mark Doms, "Understanding Productivity: Lessons from Longitudinal Microdata," *Journal of Economic Literature*, Vol. 38, No. 3, 2000, pp. 569-594; Lucia Foster, John Haltiwanger, C.J. Krizan, "Aggregate Productivity Growth: Lessons from Microeconomic Evidence," National Bureau of Economic Research working paper, No. 6803, 1998; Amil Petrin, T. Kirk White, and Jerome P. Reiter, "The Impact of Plant-Level Resource Reallocations and Technical Progress on U.S. Macroeconomic Growth," *Review of Economic Dynamics*, Vol. 14, No. 1, 2011, pp. 3-26; and Titan Alon, David Berger, Robert Dent, and Benjamin Pugsley, "Older and Slower: The Startup Deficit's Lasting Effects on Aggregate Productivity Growth," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, Vol. 93, 2018, pp. 68-85.

43 Roberto Cardarelli and Lusine Lusinyan, "U.S. Total Factor Productivity Slowdown: Evidence from the U.S. States," IMF working paper 15/116, 2015. The paper uses average years of schooling as proxy for "educational attainment." This, however, is a measure of an input—time in school—when "educational attainment" is an output—test scores, for example. For that reason, our analysis looks at educational attainment directly using measures of academic performance.

44 Gary S. Becker, *Human Capital: A Theoretical and Empirical Analysis, with Special Reference to Education* (University of Chicago Press, Chicago), 1993.

45 Andrew J. Coulson, "State Education Trends: Academic Performance and Spending Over the Past 40 Years," Cato Institute Policy Analysis, Number 746, 2014.

46 Stan J. Liebowitz and Matthew L. Kelly, "Fixing the Bias in Current State K–12 Education Rankings," Cato Institute Policy Analysis, No. 854, November 2018.



8421 Wayzata Boulevard ★ Suite 110 Golden Valley, MN 55426

AmericanExperiment.org

To obtain copies of American Experiment's recent reports— Isaac M. Orr, Mitch Rolling, and John Phelan's "Doubling Down on Failure," John Phelan's "The State of Minnesota's Economy: 2018," and Isaac M. Orr, Debra W. Struhsacker, and John Phelan's "Unearthing Prosperity"—or to subscribe to the Center's free quarterly magazine, *Thinking Minnesota*, email Peter Zeller at Peter.Zeller@AmericanExperiment.org, or call (612) 338-3605.

